IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 76,318

JOANN PALACINO,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent/Defendant.



ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL G. KAPLAN, ESQUIRE for MCFANN, BEAVERS & KAPLAN, P.A. 110 SOUTHEAST 6TH STREET THE 110 TOWER, SUITE 1900 FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33301 (305) 462-8500

INTRODUCTION

In this brief, the Petitioner, JOANN PALACINO, the Appellee in the lower court and Plaintiff in the trial court, will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Plaintiff". The Respondent, STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, will be referred to as "Respondent" or "Defendant". References to the Record on Appeal will be indicated by the symbol "(R)". The symbol "(A)" will be used to refer to the Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Petitioner seeks a reversal of the District Court of Appeal's <u>en banc</u> decision reversing a Final Summary Judgment entered by the trial court in favor of JOANN PALACINO. The Summary Judgment granted Petitioner's claim for uninsured motorist benefits under an insurance policy issued by STATE FARM. (R 54), (A 1).

Prior to her automobile accident, JOANN PALACINO obtained an insurance policy from STATE FARM which included uninsured motorist coverage. (R 3 - 25) (A 2 - 23). On March 9, 1986, the Petitioner was riding as a passenger in a vehicle owned by her and insured by the Respondent, but driven by an uninsured friend. (R 34 - 37). As a result of the driver's negligence JOANN was injured in a one car accident which occurred on Interstate 95 in Broward County, Florida. (R 34 - 37). The driver of the Petitioner's vehicle was killed in the accident. (R 34 - 37). Although JOANN PALACINO'S insurance policy was in effect on the date of the accident and the negligent driver was an uninsured motorist, the Respondent denied her uninsured motorist benefits for injuries she sustained.

JOANN PALACINO filed in the Broward County Circuit Court a Petition for Declaratory Decree seeking a determination of uninsured motorist coverage under the policy issued by STATE FARM. (R 1, 2), (A 24, 25). The Defendant responded to the complaint by denying the existence of coverage and by raising

certain exclusions contained within the policy. (R 26 - 27), (A 26, 27).

The exclusions relied upon by the Respondent are, in pertinent part, as follows:

1) As to Coverage A (Liability),

"THERE IS NO COVERAGE: ... 2. FOR ANY BODILY INJURY TO: ... C. ANY INSURED OR ANY MEMBER OF AN INSURED'S FAMILY RESIDING IN THE INSURED'S HOUSEHOLD."

2) As to Coverage U (Uninsured Motorist),

"An uninsured motor vehicle does not include a land motor vehicle: 1. Insured under the liability

coverage of this policy;
Furnished for the regular use of you, your spouse or any relative." (R 8, 14), (A 7, 13).

At the appropriate time both parties moved for summary judgment. (R 28, 33). Summary judgment was granted in favor of the Plaintiff, JOANN PALACINO, and against Defendant, STATE FARM.

The Defendant timely filed its Notice of Appeal with the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. (R __). On June 13, 1990, the District Court of Appeal filed its <u>en banc</u> opinion reversing the lower court's decision granting the Plaintiff summary judgment and further certifying conflict with the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, in <u>Jernigan v. Progressive American Insurance Company</u>, 501 So.2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). (A 28 - 33).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An insurance company that sells a policy of insurance containing uninsured motorist coverage should not be permitted to withhold that coverage from their insured who is injured while a passenger in her own vehicle driven by the tortfeasor. The public policy behind Section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1985) is to preclude an insurer from excluding uninsured motorist coverage except when the exclusion is necessary to uphold other important public policy considerations. Denial of uninsured motorist coverage has also been permitted when the insured would not have been "otherwise legally entitled to recover" had the tortfeasor been insured.

The tortfeasor in this case was the Petitioner's uninsured acquaintance. The Plaintiff would have been able to collect under the driver's liability policy if he were insured and, furthermore, there is no family exclusion applicable in this case. Therefore no reasonable public policy interest is served by permitting the instant exclusions to deny the Petitioner uninsured motorist coverage.

The exclusions should be stricken as violative of the public policy of the State of Florida and the majority decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, should be reversed.

ARGUMENT I

AN INSURED OWNER RIDING AS A PASSENGER IN HER OWN VEHICLE WHO IS INJURED BY THE NEGLIGENCE OF A NON-RELATIVE DRIVER IS ENTITLED TO UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE AND ANY INSURANCE POLICY EXCLUSIONS TO THE CONTRARY ARE VOID.

Section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1985) states in pertinent part:

"No motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this State with respect to any specifically identified motor vehicle insured or registered or principally garaged in this State unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of the persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease including death resulting therefrom."

This Court has declared that the public policy behind Section 627.727(1) is to provide uniform and specific insurance benefits to persons injured by the negligence of insolvent or uninsured motorist. <u>Mullis v. State Farm</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971); <u>Brown v. Progressive Mutual Insurance Company</u>, 249 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1971). Given the purpose of the uninsured motorist statute as well as the public policy in support of limitations on insurance companies' ability to dilute or restrict that coverage, the decision of the District Court of Appeal in <u>State Farm Mutual</u> <u>Automobile Insurance Company v. Palacino</u>, _____ So.2d ___ (Fla. 4th DCA June 22, 1990) [15 FLW 1583] is erroneous.

In the instant case, JOANN PALACINO bought an insurance policy from the Respondent that included uninsured motorist coverage. STATE FARM denied uninsured motorist coverage to her by raising and relying upon the following exclusionary language:

> "An uninsured motor vehicle does not include a land motor vehicle: 1. Insured under the liability coverage of this policy; 2. Furnished for the regular use of you, your spouse or any relative." (R 14).

Throughout the years this Court has consistently held that policy exclusions which operate to limit the scope of uninsured motorist coverage are against public policy and are, therefore, Brown v. Progressive, supra, Mullis v. State Farm, invalid. supra, see also Hodges v. National Union Indemnity Company, 249 So.2d 679 (FLa. 1971). There are, however, certain limitations Specifically, this Court has upheld the that have been upheld. validity of a household or family exclusion designed to prevent collusion between family members in an instance where one family member is injured by the negligence of another. See, e.q., Allstate Insurance Company v. Dascoli, 497 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1986). Except in the case of the family exclusion or other similar exclusions designed to be consistent with common law or statutory immunities, uninsured motorist coverage limitations are violative of public policy and are invalid. The Respondent's denial of uninsured motorist coverage in this case in not supported by a valid exclusion and therefore that coverage cannot be withheld.

This Court has previously addressed issues similar to those

raised in this appeal in <u>Reid v. State Farm Fire and Casualty</u> <u>Company</u>, 352 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1977) and, more recently, in <u>Allstate Insurance Company v. Boynton</u>, 486 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1986). In <u>Reid</u>, this Court upheld a family-household liability exclusion which prevented the injured person from recovering under the liability portion of a relative's policy. The plaintiff then sought to recover under the uninsured motorist coverage contained within the policy. The exclusion in the <u>Reid</u> policy that the vehicle defined in the policy could not be an "uninsured motor vehicle" was also upheld as consistent with public policy designed to prevent the potential for fraud and collusion between family members. <u>Reid</u> at 1173.

In <u>Boynton</u>, <u>supra</u>, the plaintiff, an auto mechanic was injured on the job when he was struck by an automobile driven by a co-employee. Liability coverage was unavailable to the plaintiff under prohibitions contained within the Workers' Compensation Statutes. The claim for uninsured motorist coverage was disallowed because of an exclusion contained within the policy which required that the injured party be "otherwise legally entitled to recover" from the owner or operator of the uninsured vehicle. This Court upheld exclusions contained within the policy so as not to violate or circumvent the legislative intent of Florida Statute Section 440.01, et seq (1989). The facts in the instant case are clearly distinguishable from those in <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u>.

Disallowing the exclusions contained within the policy

provided to the Petitioner would not violate any similar exclusion. JOANN PALACINO was a passenger in a car being driven by a friend. The friend was killed in the accident. There exists no potential for collusion between family members since the at-fault party is not related to the Petitioner. The denial of uninsured motorist coverage simply does not hinge upon a valid family exclusion as in <u>Reid</u>. Therefore, the Plaintiff is otherwise "legally entitled to recover damages" from the driver and coverage should be afforded.

The facts in the instant case more closely resemble those in Jernigan v. Progressive American Insurance Company, 501 So.2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). In Jernigan, the plaintiff was riding as a passenger in a vehicle owned by him but driven by an uninsured friend. As a result of the driver's negligence, a one car collision occurred in which the driver was killed and Jernigan was seriously injured. The insured's policy contained exclusions similar to those applicable in the instant case. The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, held that under these facts the uninsured motorist policy exclusions were contrary to public policy and, therefore, invalid. Jernigan at 750.

Our case is virtually identical to <u>Jernigan</u>, and the same conclusions should be reached. Permitting recovery under the uninsured motorist policy in this case would not, as it did in <u>Reid</u>, render the family exclusion meaningless. That exclusion is not applicable here.

The reasoning behind the decision in <u>Reid</u> is solid. A

reasonable exclusion based upon long recognized public policy and crafted to result in a furtherance of that policy should not be overturned. However, public policy and logic demand that uninsured motorist coverage be made available in all other circumstances.

To permit the Respondent to limit or remove uninsured motorist coverage under the facts as they exist in this case is contrary to good reason. Affirmance of the decision below would lead to the unavailability of insurance coverage in situations where coverage is necessary. For example, an car owner who has consumed alcoholic beverages or is on medication and seeks the assistance of a friend to drive him home is riding without insurance if the policy exclusions are given their full effect. Additionally, there is no insurance coverage whatsoever for an ill or incapacitated individual who is being driven to the hospital by a caring but negligent friend. Under these scenarios there is no reasonable basis to fear fraud or collusion and every reason to require the availability and applicability of uninsured motorist coverage.

As pointed out by Judge Stone in his dissenting opinion below,

"Forcing the insured to forfeit uninsured motorist protection against the driver's negligence would inhibit insureds from utilizing the services of another, even a friend, as a driver of the insured vehicle when the insured is incapacitated, intoxicated or otherwise unable to drive. Applying the principal that a vehicle cannot be both insured and uninsured under the same policy, in this case, deprives the insured of

the benefit of uninsured/underinsured motorist protection against the negligence of a driver who is not a member of her family or household." (A 31).

Section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1989) allows

"every insured ... to recover for the damages he or she would have been able to recover if the offending motorist had maintained a policy of liability insurance." <u>Mullis v.</u> <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance</u> <u>Company</u>, at 234. [citing <u>Standard Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Gavin</u>, 184 So.2d 229, 232 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966)].

In <u>Reid</u>, plaintiff could not recover uninsured motorist benefits because of a valid family-household exclusion. However, in the instant case, if the offending motorist had liability insurance, Miss Palacino would have been able to recover. There exists no valid or useful purpose in denying coverage to an automobile owner who is injured while a passenger in her vehicle driven by an uninsured, non-family member. Under the facts <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>, Section 627.727(1) and public policy mandate reversal of the decision of the District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

There exists no public policy reasons why the Petitioner should be precluded from making a claim under her uninsured motorist insurance coverage against the negligent driver which caused her injuries. There exists no common law or statutory bar to any claim the Petitioner has against the uninsured driver of her automobile. The exclusions contained within the Petitioner's insurance policy violate public policy and should be considered void. The decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, reversing the lower court's summary judgment in favor of the Plaintiff/Petitioner should be reversed.