# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 76,318

JOANN PALACINO,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent/Defendant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JAMES K. CLARK, ESQUIRE
BARNETT, CLARK & BARNARD
Biscayne Building, Suite 1003
19 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
Telephone: (305) 374-0033 (Dade)
Broward Line: (305) 525-4564
Florida Bar No. 161123

###

#### INTRODUCTION

This Court has accepted jurisdiction herein to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals which is said to conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in <u>Jernigan v. Progressive American Insurance Company</u>, 501 So.2d 148 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

The Petitioner, JOANN DOWNS PALACINO, will be referred to throughout this Brief as either "Petitioner" or "PALACINO". The Respondent, STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, will be referred to as "STATE FARM".

References to the Record on Appeal will be indicated by the symbol "(R.)"

All emphasis shall be supplied by the writer unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

At 1:45 p.m. on March 9, 1986, JOANN DOWNS PALACINO was injured in a one-car traffic accident on I-95 in Dade County. She was twenty-three years of age and the right front passenger of a 1982 Datsun 280 ZX. She was the registered title owner of the vehicle in which she was riding. A young man named Luis Carlos Guerrero was driving her Datsun at the time of the accident.

Prior to the accident the speed of the vehicle was estimated by witnesses to be between 70 and 80 MPH. A witness saw the driver extend his hands up through the open T-top of the vehicle. At that point the vehicle went out of control striking a concrete barrier wall. Witnesses stated that prior to the accident the occupants appeared to be dancing.

Guerrero, who had a blood alcohol content of .16%, was ejected from the vehicle and was pronounced dead at the scene of the accident. PALACINO was also ejected and injured.

The Datsun was insured under a policy of automobile liability insurance issued by STATE FARM. That policy included coverage for uninsured motorist benefits. (R. 3).

The <u>liability</u> insuring agreements of the policy contained the following exclusion, known colloquially as the "household exclusion":

When Coverage A Does Not Apply There is no Coverage ...

2. For any Bodily Injury To:
... c. Any Insured or any Member of an
Insured's Family residing in the Insured's
household.

(R. 35)

Under the <u>uninsured motorist</u> part of the policy, the following restriction of benefits appears:

An Uninsured motor vehicle does not include a land motor vehicle:

1. Insured under the liability coverage of this policy.

(R. 35)

Since Guerrero had no automobile liability insurance coverage of his own, and since PALACINO was not able to make a claim against him under her own liability policy (because of the application of the "household exclusion"), she made claim for uninsured motorist benefits under that same policy. When this claim was denied by

STATE FARM, PALACINO filed an action in the Circuit Court of Broward County seeking a declaration of her rights under the policy and uninsured motorist benefits. (R. 1-2). She ultimately obtained a summary judgment in her favor wherein the Circuit Court found that she was entitled to uninsured motorist benefits under the rationale expressed in <u>Jernigan vs. Progressive American Insurance Company</u>, 501 So.2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). (R. 54).

STATE FARM appealed, citing conflict with this Court's decision in Reid v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 352 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1977). The Fourth District Court reversed the lower court's summary judgment and remanded the matter with instructions to enter summary judgment in favor of STATE FARM. It felt, however, that the instant case is "factually indistinguishable" from Jernigan and certified its decision as expressly conflicting with Jernigan.

This Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### POINT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN ACKNOWLEDGING THE CONTINUING VITALITY OF REID V. STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY AND HOLDING THAT THE PETITIONER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS IN THIS CASE.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is factually on all fours with this Court's decision

in Reid v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company. That case, as this, involved a claim for uninsured motorist benefits under a policy of automobile insurance made by an insured or family member of an insured after that person was precluded from claiming under the liability coverage of the same policy by a valid "household exclusion". Reid stands for the proposition that uninsured motorist benefits are not recoverable in this situation. To allow a recovery would render the "household exclusion" a nullity. Jernigan v. Progressive American Insurance Company, which is said to be in conflict with the District Court's opinion in this case, is not conflicting in that it did not involve the application of a "household exclusion". The Jernigan court expressly exempts from its decision situations as found in Reid, and here, and is therefore not controlling or on point.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Contrary to the protestations of the Petitioner here, it is respectfully suggested that this case is factually indistinguishable from Reid v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 352 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1977), the landmark case affirmed in principle by this Court on several subsequent occasions. Allstate Insurance Company v. Boynton, 486 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1986); Allstate Insurance Company v. Dascoli, 497 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1986); and Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Company v. Government Employees Insurance Company, 387 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1980). Reid has been followed on multiple other occasions by the various districts. See, e.g., Allstate Insurance

Company v. Baker, 543 So.2d 847 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. denied, 554 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1989); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. McClure, 501 So.2d 141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), rev. denied, 511 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1987); Simon v. Allstate Insurance Company, 496 So.2d 878 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Harrison v. Metropolitan Property and Liability Insurance Company, 475 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Curtin v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 449 So.2d 293 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); and Barlow v. Auto-Owners Insurance Company, 358 So.2d 1128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

In <u>Reid</u>, Dawn Reid was injured while a passenger in an automobile driven by her sister, owned by her father, and insured by STATE FARM. There was in that STATE FARM policy, as here, an exclusion to liability insurance coverage for <u>injuries</u> sustained by an insured or family member of an insured living in the insured's household. Because of the applicability of the "household exclusion", Dawn Reid was precluded from recovering under her father's automobile liability insurance coverage.

When Dawn thereafter made a claim for the uninsured motorist benefits provided in that same policy, this Court gave effect to the very same restriction to uninsured motorist coverage as is found there. Dawn's father's policy, as here, provided that an "uninsured motor vehicle" may not be the vehicle defined in the policy as the insured motor vehicle.

This Court, there, held,

... the particular restriction on uninsured motorist coverage in the present case is not against public policy and is not void. To hold otherwise in this case would completely

nullify the family-household exclusion.

Reid, supra, at page 1174.

As seen, then <u>Reid</u> and this case are identical. In light of Petitioner's assertion that the reasoning behind the <u>Reid</u> decision is <u>solid</u>, Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits at page 8, it is somewhat difficult to understand the precise legal principle she is espousing. It is assumed it is either one of two: either the "household exclusion" of the liability coverage should not be given effect, or the restriction to uninsured motorist coverage approved in <u>Reid</u> should be declared invalid. Each of these propositions are fallacious and will be discussed separately:

#### THE HOUSEHOLD EXCLUSION

Apparently the Petitioner takes the position that since she was insured while riding as a passenger in her own vehicle while it was being operated by a friend, and not a family member, the "household exclusion" contained in the liability portion of her insurance policy should not apply.

The fallacy of this position is patent. If the "household exclusion" is not valid or applicable to these facts, then there would be no bar to her recovery from her friend (and STATE FARM) as he would qualify (as a permissive user) as an omnibus insured under her insurance policy. If this were the case, however, uninsured benefits would not be available here in that the limits of the liability coverage and of the uninsured motorist provisions in this policy are identical. See, Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith, 556 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1990).

The "household exclusion" however is applicable here to exclude liability coverage in a situation where a friend or other permissive user is driving the insured vehicle. This proposition has been accepted universally in Florida. Allstate Insurance Company v. Baker, supra; Porr v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 452 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), rev. denied, 496 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1986); Curtin v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, supra; and Newman v. National Indemnity Company, 245 So.2d 118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971). It evolves from the well-accepted view that, barring legislative prohibition, insurance policies may contain liability coverage exclusions to protect insurers against claims for injuries to persons falling within specified classes. Couch on Insurance 2d (Rev. Ed.) §45:510.

So-called "household exclusions" have been approved on policy grounds in this State for two reasons: to protect insurers from overly-friendly or collusive lawsuits, Reid, supra, and because insurance premiums are established in part by reference to potential exposure and may be lower where those most likely to be passengers in the automobiles are expressly excluded from coverage. Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Company v. Government Employees Insurance Company, supra.

The Petitioner cites no authority in support of the invalidity of the "household exclusion" in this case. It is submitted that its continuing validity in this state is beyond peradventure.

#### THE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE RESTRICTION

Since, as seen, the "household exclusion" is valid, the only other logical proposition that can be argued by the Petitioner is that the restriction on uninsured motorist coverage here should not be applied. That restriction provides that an "uninsured motor vehicle" under the policy cannot be the same vehicle defined in the policy as the insured motor vehicle.

The Amicus Curiae here cites to Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), decided six years prior to Reid, as the "polestar" in determining the extent to which uninsured motorist coverage is to be provided (or restricted) in this State. Mullis recognized that uninsured motorist coverage was to be reciprocal to liability coverage and that it was to be provided to insureds to the extent that they would be entitled to liability coverage. C.f., Valiant Insurance Company v. Webster, 15 F.L.W. S405 (Fla. July 26, 1990).

However, as the court noted in <u>Jernigan v. Progressive</u>

<u>American Insurance Company</u>, supra:

The only break in the phalanx of cases requiring that uninsured motorist coverage parallel the theoretical liability coverage of the uninsured motorist has been the family member and fellow employee exclusions in cases involving one insurance policy on the automobile involved in the accident.

501 So.2d 748, 751 n.4.

The <u>Jernigan</u> court struck down an exclusion to uninsured motorist coverage when an insured was occupying an owned motor vehicle for which insurance was not provided. That case did not